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PREFACE

Man has always possessed an unquenchable thirst for knowledge.
His curiosity has progressed from the ancients’ immobile speculation
concerning the Earth and astrological deductions of the heavens. In
this highly developed scientific and technological age, his reaching
for the stars has propelled him in his space ship well along in his
preparations for his astounding journey. He has circled the Moon and
walked upon it. He has viewed the Earth from afar, and found it
beautiful, to rocket back in fiery, triumphant re-entry.

As we breathlessly follow his hazardous journeys to new frontiers,
let us pause and review for a bit what he has already discovered
about the Earth planet. More specifically, we are interested in the
Genesee Valley, situated in western New York State.

The pioneers who chose Township XII, Range VII, of the Phelps
and Gorham Purchase (to be named Henrietta), found their lands a
part of the Genesee Valley. Its dense forests held the promise of rich
farming conditions, so they began the task of making sufficient
clearings for shelter, farmyard and crops. It is doubtful if those hardy
souls, whose single purpose was to establish a farm home in the
wilderness, ever wondered about the tremendous forces that carved
this lovely valley, other than accepting it simply as a gift of their

Creator. Geologists, however, have through their study of rock
formation, land contours and composition, provided a fascinating
account of the evolution of our Genesee Valley, the intricate and
magnificient work of the two team mates, Nature and Time.
Although we can only barely touch on the story they have to tell us,
it is a part of our history and must be included.



VALLEY OF THE GENESEE

Genesee, the name given the ancient river and the valley through
which it flows, was taken from the Indian word, “Gen-e-se-0,”
denoting “‘Beautiful Valley.” The Indians, following the course of
this river as they hunted and fished, discovered its six falls. Watching
swift flowing water as it tumbled over the rocks and listening to the
constant roar, they called it by the musical name of
“Caschonchiagon,” meaning ‘River-Of-Falls.” The Seneca Indians
found their chosen valley ideal for hunting, fishing and summer-time
raising of vegetables and maize.

The geologist, at a much later date, delving into this fascinating,
complex science, studied land and rock formations. He discovered
evidence of the long, slow development involved in the making of the
Genesee Valley. Geologists formed a time chart to divide the millions
of years of the Earth’s evolution, giving names to the various
divisions. The rock records of the Genesee Valley cover a fraction in
geologic time, though spanning millions of years. The geologic names
for the two full periods involved in the carving of our valley,
according to the rock record, are Silurian and Devonian. These two
periods fall in the Paleozoic (Old Life) era. The name Silurian is
derived from an old Welsh name, while Devonian is derived from
County Devon, England, where it was first discovered.

Western New York was originally submerged under a shallow
inland sea for millions of years. The bed rock therein is composed of
layers of mineral matter which covered the bottom of this age old
sea. Sea fossils may be found imbedded in these rocks. With gradual
uplifting of the land and its emergence from the sea, it was exposed
to atmospheric changes and erosion for tens of millions of years.
With the coming of the Ice Age, New York State was covered by
thick, heavy ice of the relentless Quebec Glacier, for hundreds of
thousands of years; 50,000 years in the Rochester area.

Post glacial time, bringing us into the present era, following the
receding of the ice sheet, re-exposing the land to atmospheric
changes, has been calculated as perhaps tens of thousands of years.
Relieved of the tremendous weight of the ice cap, the land rose
slowly.

“And in the development of these nature chose for a tool, not the
earthquake, or lightning to rent and split assunder, or the stormy
torrent of eroding rain, but the tender snowflowers, noiselessly
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falling through unnumbered centuries, the offspring of the sun and
the sea Then after their grand task was done, these bands of
snowflowers, these mighty glaciers, were melted and removed as if of
no more importance than dew, destined to last but an hour.”

John Muir, Naturalist.

So beautifully expressed in the above quotation, the fragile
snowflakes, with their myriad shapes and designs, fell unceasingly in
Quebec, Canada, over a great period of time. The deepening snow,
covering all vegetation and high elevations, solidified into
approximately ten thousand feet deep ice in some areas, and at least
a mile deep in the Rochester area. Pressured southward by its great
weight, it crept over New York State. It is not known how long this
Ice Age lasted, but has been estimated as possibly 500,000 years. As
the temperature rose, the snowfall diminished and the Sun’s rays
penetrated the thick edges of the glacier. Proof of its activity can be
seen in theso-called “till,” the rocks and stones bearing glacial marks
which have been carried great distances to be dropped as the ice
receded. Water, gushing in torrents from melting ice, left its “drift”
behind, to form moraines, kames and eskers. (Kames are small hills or
knolls formed of sand and gravel. Eskers are composed of ridges of
gravel from beds of glacial streams.) Kame ridges have been noted
south of the old Lehigh Station, west of the railroad tracks.
Drumlins, the lovely hills which add so much to the scenic beauty of
western New York State, were formed of compact till by the
receding ice sheet. Standing firm against the weakening force of the
melting ice, they can be found scattered about Henrietta: Search’s
Hill on Middle Road, one quarter mile south of Erie Station Road;
Methodist Hill, W. Henrietta Road; Locust Hill Drive, one-eighth mile
north of Jefferson Road; Liberty Hill, Lehigh Station Road;
Telephone Road, two-thirds mile north of Martin Road; East River
Road at junction of Brooks Road; Ward Hill, Ward Hill Road; and on
the Rochester Institute of Technology campus.

Other evidence of the former glacier has been found.in Henrietta.
On the former Buyck Brothers farm on the south side of Lehigh
Station Road, a huge rock stood, which without a doubt was a glacial
boulder or “erratic,” left behind by the ice sheet. Obstructing their
farming efforts, it was finally destroyed by blasting with dynamite.

In an attempt to hand dig a well in the mid 1930’s at the writer’s
home south of the Thruway, well diggers hit a “‘hard-pan” at least
thirty feet deep. Left standing for a year until money was
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accumulated for further drilling (during the Depression), the walls of
the deep hole never caved in. Such hard-pans were caused by the great

weight of the glacial ice, compressing the sub-glacial till.

“Full many fair and famous streams
Beneath the sun there be,
But more to us than any seems,
Our own dear Genesee.”

William M.C. Hosmer

The history of the Genesee River is as absorbing as that of the
Genesee Valley throughout which it flows. It is believed the primitive
Genesee had its origin on the south bank of the great Ontarian River,
during the Devonian period, whence it flowed southward through the
Irondequoit Valley. During millions of years following, there were
changes in elevation, form of land surface, rock formation and
temperatures that must have influenced the river’s course. During
Tertiary time the flow of the then large and vigorous Genesee was
directed northward.

With the approach of the glacier, its northward flow became
obstructed. The undefeated river once more turned southward. After
an immense length of time, the giant ice sheet was vanquished in a
losing battle with the Sun. Whereas, before the Glacial Age, our river
had turned eastward, north of Avon, then turned north to the
Irondequoit Valley, the former bed was now blocked with “rock
rubbish” of glacial till. From its source in Potter County,
Pennsylvania, over two thousand feet above sea level. the Genesee
cut new canyons at Portageville, Mt. Morris and Rochester. From Avon
it flo.ved due north, to erpty into Lake Ontario. It forms the western
border of Henrietta, where its flooding capacity is held to a
minimum due to a recent modern dam built at Mt. Morris and its
scientific control. The Genesee is the only Tertiary river to still flow
in a northerly direction today. It is also unique, in that, in its
northward journey, it passes over rock strata of the entire Devonian
era, which is more completely detailed than anywhere else on the
Earth known to geologists. It also contains both the entire Devonian
and Silurian series, which cannot be claimed by any other river in
America. Its canyons at Letchworth Park are breathtaking when
adorned in Autumnal colors. Rightfully, the poets Hosmer and
Swinburne have sung its praises.



NATIVE AMERICANS OF NEW YORK STATE

When the ice sheet melted away and the land had been warmed by
the Sun, great hardwood trees and evergreens spread over the
landscape. Fish in abundance filled the lakes and rivers. Bears,
wolves, wildcats, deer and all the smaller animals we know today
roamed the forests. Huge flocks of birds darkened the sky and nested
in the tree tops, while waterfowl sought the marshes and lakes to
breed their young.

Into this vast new wilderness, wandered the first nomadic hunters,
exploring the lakes, rivers and valleys of central and western New
York State. They gathered the wild vegetal food, fruit, berries and
nuts, to supplement their diet of wild meat and fish. They cooked
their meat often times by dropping hot stones into bark or skin
receptacles, producing fire by striking flint on pyrite. Garments of
skins were sewn with awls or needles of bone. They dwelt in
wigwams covered with bark or skins. These were the Paleo Indians,
who occupied New York State well over 10,000 years ago. This
conclusion has been formed from the finding of fluted projectile
points used in spearheads, found in the state, which are known to be
of great age. Similar fluted points were found in the southwestern
part of the United States, beside the skeletons of the extinct bison.
The largest collection of fluted points in New York State were found
in the western part of the state.

Within the Archaic period following were found the Lamoka and
Laurentian Cultures. The Lamokan, of short stature, possessed
somewhat refined features. His face was high and narrow, with
narrowed head and nose. His was not the Oriental type face, which
raises a doubt as to the Bering Strait route to America for all
American Indians.

The Lamokans were so called after Lake Lamoka, Schuyler
County, the main site discovered of these early archaic people. This
site was explored by Dr. William A. Ritchie, State archeologist, when
he was an anthropologist at the Rochester Museum of Arts and
Sciences. It was concluded, from radio active carbon in the charcoal
taken from sites of their ancient fires, that they dwelt here at least
five thousand, five hundred years ago. Wild meats, including turkey
and waterfowl, were eaten. They produced fire by a wooden drill
rotated between their hands. Acorns were eaten, which they soaked,
then ground with a stone mortar and gestle. They made fish hooks of
bone, and with celts (stone axes) and stone adzes they worked with
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wood. It is theorized they may have used these crude tools to hollow
out logs to make a sort of dugout canoe. Another means of
hollowing logs was by the use of fire.

The archaic Indians named Laurentians or Hochelagan, formerly
from around Montreal and Quebec, drifted in small bands into New
York State from Canada, possibly following the St. Lawrence Valley.
Gradually they worked their way into western New York. At
Montezuma Swamp, the foot of Cayuga Lake, and at Oneida Lake
were found sites which yielded evidence of age long occupation.
Unlike the Lamoka Culture, these people were stocky, with broad
features. Whereas the earliest inhabitants buried their dead in a
flexed position, the Laurentian was laid in extended position, or
cremated, with the bones covered in a shallow grave. A body of a
small child was found, a toy of stone clasped in its hand. Curled
beside the remains of an infant, was a puppy, mute evidence of
parental affection.

The Laurentian fished with nets, bone hooks and barbed bone
harpoons. Perforated teeth of wild animals were worn as ornaments,
and a decorated comb was found, made of antler. Eating utensils
were also made of antler, as well, no doubt, as of wood. Points of
ground slate and ground slate knives were used. Musical flutes
formed of hollow bones of birds were discovered on Frontenac
Island in Cayuga Lake. Similar instruments were used by the
Lamokans. Carefully studying skeletans and artifacts from their
diggings, archeologists have concluded the Lamokans were gradually

absorbed by the Laurentians.

The Woodland Culture followed and has been divided into three
periods, namely: Early, Middle and Late. Their way of life was more
stable, for they developed a knowledge of agriculture to supplement
their supply of food. Maize and beans were planted and grown. Not
moving about as frequently, they devoted their leisure time and
energy in artistic achievement. Bartering with Indians from the
south, east, and west, gave them attractive and useful materials from
other areas. These were wrought into knives, projectile points,
cooking pots, axes, awls, and shaped into articles for personal
adornment.

The Middlesex Culture, the name bestowed upon the Vine Valley
site at the southeast end of Canandaigua Lake, was of the Early
Woodland period. They fashioned pottery of crushed stone, which
they decorated with a cord wrapped paddle. Two types of pipes were
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made of stone or clay. One was of tubular shape, larger at one end
than the other, with a small perforation; the other was a slightly bent
elbow shape. Their dead were buried in a flexed position or
cremated.

The Hopewellians, who were of a later period than the Middlesex,
represent another Early Woodland culture. Found mostly in western
New York, they were often referred to as the Mound Builders,
because of the manner of burying their departed. Whatever the
culture, as man has progressed in his way of life, he has pondered the
mystery and meaning of death. Bound by ties of blood, affection and
friendship, he gropes for a fitting way in which to pay his final
respects. Instinct and yearning spark a belief in a Creative Power
beyond his own short span of earthly existence. All that we know of
the early eastern Indian here is what archeologists have interpreted
from their findings and careful study, for he left no written record of
his experiences.

The Hopewell Indians did not seem to follow a fixed form in their
burial, as some were cremated, others were buried in a flexed
position, some in extended position. Heaps of bones were also found
within mounds. Often a stone vault was found within a mound, such
as at Squawkie Hill, near Mt. Morris, where one of the Hopewellian
leaders was interred. This advanced pre-historic culture buried many
artifacts within the mounds, which provides an insight of their ability
and way of life. Platform pipes, beaded ornaments, knives, broad
projectile points, copper axes and cord-wrapped instruments for
decorating pottery have been discovered.

The Point Peninsula Culture combined those of both the two
previous mentioned cultures, as well as developing characteristic
ways of their own in the Middle Woodland period. Peculiar to this
culture were the cigar shaped pipes of stone and clay, bone daggers
and varied harpoons, antler combs and shell beads. An outstanding
wood carving tool made from a beaver’s tooth with a wooden handle
was found. They began to decorate their pottery with a single cord
and also used a square toothed stamp for this purpose. The rims of
their pottery pots, instead of being straight, were now shaped to
slope outward somewhat. To the average person this may have little
meaning, but the archeologist finds significance in the slightest
change when comparing the development of the various cultures. The
Point Peninsula Indians’ burials were in a pit grave in a well defined
burial ground.



The Owasco Culture in the Late Woodland era was the immediate
predecessor of the Iroquois Indian. A gradual change in the cultural
pattern has been noted by archeologists in this period. Although the
Owascos as did the Point Peninsulans often established themselves
along rivers in central New York State, they began to locate their
villages atop hills, surrounded by palisades. There were marked
similarities between the Owasco Culture and the Iroquoian, who
followed. They were built physically alike; they both raised corn,
beans and squash, storing their food in deep pits lined with bark and
grass. Their artifacts and simple burials were similar. They hunted,
fished, gathered nuts, wild fruits and edible plants for food. Their
dishware was made of turtle shells and of wood. Deer skulls and wild
turkey bones provided food utensils. Deer skins were cured and put
together for wearing apparel.

Itis not to be assumed that the various type Indians were found only
where the sites were located for which their cultures were named.
Artifacts and skeletons have been found throughout New York State,
and no doubt many still lie hidden from view. Construction and road
building have destroyed many sites.

When the Europeans arrived on our shores, they found the
Algonquin, or Algonkian Indian, on Long Island and in the Hudson
Valley.

Dwelling west of the Hudson River were the Iroquois tribes, one
of which occupied the Genesee Valley. The Iroquois name, meaning
“real adder,” was bestowed on them by their eastern neighbors, the
Algonquins. They called themselves “Ongwanonhsioni,” or “‘we
longhouse builders.” Their organization was truly remarkable for
bands of people eking out a living in the woods, without a permanent
town or city, or scribe to record their way of life. It became the task
of the white man to listen to their legends and to study by various
methods their cultures. Thus the early Iroquois people take their
rightful place in history. It is a history shared by every locality.

Deganawidah, assisted by Hiawatha, were the legendary figures
instrumental in founding the League of Five Nations, whose purpose
was to unite the warring tribes into a peaceful nation. The Mohawk
tribe was the first to listen and approve, though the chiefs were at
first wary. After suffering various trials, the founders persuaded five
Iroquois tribes living in New York State to join together. Those who
didn’t join were considered the enemy, to be vanquished, destroyed
or absorbed. The Tuscorora tribe, who inhabited the Neuse River



area in North Carolina preceding 1700, after their expulsion migrated
north. Settling among the Oneidas, they were adopted into the
League, forming the sixth Nation.

About fifty chiefs met at Grand Council at Onondaga when
occasion demanded to decide matters affecting the League. The
number is still the same to this day. When an office of chief became
vacant, it was promptly filled after careful selection. Chiefs held their
exalted position for life, dependant on good behavior. They were
chosen for their ability, wisdom, dignity and oratorical power. They
had to possess a knowledge of their ancient faith, as well as civil
duties. For five hundred years this system has not changed.

Their Confederacy was likened to the longhouse in which they
dwelt. The guardians of the eastern door of the symbolic Longhouse
were the Mohawks of Mohawk Valley. Their Iroquoian name was
“Kanyengehaga™, or “people of the flint.” The “Oneyotgehagas”
were the Oneidas, the ‘people of the standing stone.” The
Onondagas or Onontaga, meaning “on the mountain”, were “Keepers
of the Council Fire.” The Cayuga or “Gayokwehonu” signifying
“where they land the boats”, like the Oneidas, were considered the
younger brothers. They occupied the north and south walls of the
League Longhouse. The Senecas, known among the Iroquois as
“Onondewagaono,” or “great hills people,” were the “Keepers of the
Western Door” of the symbolic Longhouse. The Senecas were the
Indians who occupied the area west of Seneca Lake and the Genesee
Valley.

The various tribes of the Iroquois were sub-divided into clans,
named for animals such as the Bear, Wolf, Turtle, Deer, etc. Marriage
into one’s own clan was forbidden. After marriage, the couple
resided in the longhouse of the new wife’s family. The children born
to them belonged to the mother’s clan, taking their name. Marriages
were sometimes arranged by the mothers of the couple involved. A
good housekeeper and a good provider were considered ideal mates.

The building of a longhouse was a community project. Forked logs
about ten feet high were set about five feet apart, then bound
together by bark strips. Saplings were bent over to form an arbor-like
roof. Poles were tied lengthwise across the roof, and bark covered the
whole structure. Openings were left every twenty feet to allow
smoke to escape from the fires. A woodshed at one end housed
firewood. Pits were dug for refuse. After the arrival of the white
man, the Iroquois built houses of logs for individual family life, with
a single fireplace and stick or stone chimney. The longhouse was used
for councils and various ceremonial gatherings.
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The Iroquois Indian was not unmindful of his Creator, as has been
stated previously. Louis Henry Morgan, an ethnologist who wrote
over 120 years ago, devoted a chapter of his book, League of the
Iroquois, to the Iroquois’ belief in the one Supreme Being. Although
separated from the other cultures of the World, living so close to
Nature, he sought and found his God. Chief Corbet Sun Down of the
Tonawanda Reservation reminds us the white brother has one
Thanksgiving, the Iroquois observed several. There was the
Mid-Winter Ceremony, consisting of several days of thanksgiving. In
the early spring, there was the Maple Sugar Festival; following soon
was the Strawberry Festival. When planting time came they observed
the Green Bean Festival. There was the Green Corn Festival, and
thanks was given at their Harvest Festival. The sun, soil, dew,
thunder, and lightning that brought rains, the moon that was their
calendar — for all these things they gave thanks to the Great Creator
Giver of life. Chief Sun Down said that while the white man has
Ten Commandments, the Iroquois had one hundred fifty-seven.

,

The coming of the European brought eventual sorrow and doom
to the Iroquois Nations. New diseases and liquor wreaked havoc
among them. Though they were aggressive warriors among the
various Indian tribes, they were unequal to the organized warfare of
the white invader, as they became caught between the French,
English, and the American pioneers. Outnumbered and outfoxed,
they were forced to retreat to reservations, where many chose to
remain in order to preserve the identity and traditions of their
people.

Much has been written of the Iroquois warrior and his conquests,
but let us also remember the nobler aspects of his nature. Many of
their attacks upon the early pioneers were spurred on by both the
French and the British, as well as caused by injustices in their
encounter with the white man.

It took centuries for the white woman to take her rightful place in
our society, as well as to win the right to vote. The Indian woman of
the Iroquois Nation was instrumental in choosing the chiefs. She
attended the councils the chiefs held with the land speculators and
was responsible for the serenity within the longhouse family.

The Iroquois was appreciative of oratory, listening for hours to the
impassioned speeches of their chiefs. With eloquence they defended
their rights in council with the white land seekers. It was a proud and
rugged race of people that could exist as they did throughout our
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long harsh winters. Their history is a part of our heritage; their young
men have served side by side with the white man in armed conflict.

“I have no nation, no country, and I might say, I have no kindred.
All that we loved and prized, and cherished, is yours. The land of the
rushing river, the thundering cataract, and the jeweled lakes are
yours. All these broad blooming fields, those wooded hills and
laughing valleys are yours — yours alone. I wish I had the eloquence
of ‘Red Jacket, that I might fitly speak of the wrongs and sorrows of
my people. O, let your hearts be stirred with pity toward them, and
when the spring violets blossom over my grave let not our
memory perish with us.”

Chief Strong
in Address on Red Jacket

In order that we may heed this plea and include in our history
evidence of early Indian occupation within the boundary of our
township, the following information is given.

While working in the gravel pit on the Albert Vollmer farm on the
West Henrietta Road, West Henrietta, in May 1928, skeletons of five
pre-historic Iroquois individuals were found. One of the graves was
excavated by staff of the Rochester Museum. It contained a flexed
burial of an adult male Indian. The bottom of the grave was lined
with charred bark and contained a raccoon humerus awl. Behind the
head, an Iroquois pottery pipe, a trumpet type with decorated bowl,
was found. Material recovered from this site is in the collections of
the Rochester Museum and Science Center.

During the summer of 1934, steam shovels were removing gravel
from the south side of Martin Road, one-quarter mile east of the
junction of Martin and West Henrietta Road. Ten graves of
pre-historic Iroquois were discovered at this time. The investigating
committee of the Rochester Museum Staff included Dr. Arthur C.
Parker, William A. Ritchie and Donald Ritchie. In the hand of one of
the skeletons lay five bone awls. Two of the graves contained bar
celts, one being the largest on record at the time from New York
State. Material from this site is in the collections of the Rochester
Museum and Science Center.

In April, 1950, additional material was taken about one hundred
yards east-northeast of this gravel pit. Three skeletons, two males and
one female, were found, as well as miscellaneous bone material. Two

11



pits contained layers of charcoal, apparently from fire remains that
had been dumped therein.

In 1960 while Arthur Bushman was operating a bulldozer,
removing fill from a low knoll on the Leland Bushman property at
633 Telephone Road, five burials of the Late Woodland Pre-Historic
Iroquois were discovered. Dr. Alfred K. Guthe of the Rochester
Museum and Science Center investigated. Two bone beads which
were found were said to be near the skull of the largest individual. A
flint fragment was also found at this spot.

An Indian village site was located on the Marvin Williams farm,
later occupied by George Bean, and former home of Mr. and Mrs.
Victor Polle (now owned by Rush-Henrietta Central School) on the
West Henrietta Road. An Indian trail it is said crossed the Honeoye
Creek north of the Indian village of Totiakton in Mendon. It ran west
to an Indian village located at the present Pine Hill Cemetery in Rush
then northwest to the Marvin Williams farm, where evidence of
Indian occupation was frequently found.

A camp site was located just east of Sauger Creek, two miles
southwest of West Henrietta, where fine arrowheads and pottery
were discovered. This farm is now owned by Jasper Howlett and
sons, on the West Henrietta-Scottsville Road.

Another site yielding pottery and finely chipped flints was located
west of the small creek on the West Henrietta Road, just north of the
bend in the road.

Evidence of camp sites was discovered on Red Creek west of the
Lehigh Valley Railroad Station. Further evidence of occupation
extended down the creek to Mortimer.

One and one-quarter miles southwest of the Erie Railroad Station
in West Henrietta, northeast of Martin Road at the junction of two
small brooks, remains of another Indian camp site were noted and
recorded.

A burial site in a sand pit one hundred fifty feet north of the Rush
town line in Henrietta, 200 feet from the Genesee River, was
discovered. A skull and kettle were plowed up a couple of hundred
feet east of these. Indian skeletons were exposed on the line of the
Erie Railroad, 200 feet north of the Rush town line, West Henrietta.
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Indian artifacts have been plowed up at other farms in Henrietta
from time to time. The Roberts collection, given to the Henrietta
archives by a member of the family, the late Mrs. James Woodruff,
contains projectile points dating back to the Early Archaic period,
3500 B.C.

It was not uncommon for the Henrietta pioneer families to
encounter Seneca Indians passing through the thick woods on a
hunting and fishing trip. In the January, 1881 issue of The
Informer, printed in Henrietta by Fred Strasenburgh, Charles
Tompkins told a revealing story. He recalled the anecdotes told by
Mrs. Jacob (Harriet) Fargo, daughter of Joel Scudder, pioneer.
Indians frequently dropped in at the Scudder home. During the War
of 1812, settlers were fearful of an Indian uprising. A noted Chief
however, assured Mr. Scudder he would protect his family if the
“hatchet was unearthed.”

The bard of Avon, William M. C. Hosmer, in the last century,
began “Yonnondio™ with the following lines:

“Realm of the Senecas! No more
In shadow lies the Pleasant Vale;
Gone are the Chiefs who ruled of yore,
Like chaff before the rushing gale.
Their rivers run with narrowed bounds,
Cleared are their broad, old hunting-grounds,
And on their ancient battle-fields
The greensward to the ploughman yields;
Like mocking echoes of the hill
Their fame resounded and grew still,
And on green ridge and level plain
Their hearths will never smoke again.”
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BEARERS OF THE CROSS AND THE SWORD

The outline of the crucifix cast its faint shadow over the Genesee
lands four hundred forty years ago when Jacques Cartier, under
command of Francis I in 1535, explored the St. Lawrence River. At
this period he learned of a river that flowed into one of the Great
Lakes, after following its course through Iroquois territory.

Etienne Brule was a sixteen year old lad who accompanied Samuel
de Champlain to America in 1609. Although illiterate, he possessed
qualities which well fitted him for the life he was to pursue. Without
fear, indured to hardship and fatigue, he travelled with the Hurons
when Champlain returned to France for a short time.

Called the “pioneer of pioneers” by Frances Parkman, in 1615
accompanied by Huron warriors, Brule paddled his canoe into Lake
Ontario. He was the first white man to view this large inland body of
water. It is not actually known where he crossed the Genesee on this
first exploration trip. They finally met a party of six Indians of the
Seneca tribe, of whom four were killed and two captured to be
tortured by the Hurons.

The following spring Brule himself on a return trip, separated
from his party, was captured and tortured. Attempting to snatch the
crucifix he wore about his neck on a thong, an Indian was warned by
Brule of the calamity which would fall upon him and his people if he
took this medal and killed his captive. At this instant a terrifying
flash of lightning split the skies, followed by the deafening roar of
thunder. The frightened Senecas scattered to their shelter, leaving
Brule lying helpless in the downpour. The rain put out the fires of
the torches and cooled his burning flesh. After the storm abated, the
chief loosened Brule’s bonds and took him to his cabin. He remained
long enough to partially recover from his injuries, when he returned
to the French village.

Permanent settlement was not a part of the French plans. They
sought the fur trade and the profits derived to help finance New
France.

Next on the scene of the white man’s penetration of the Genesee
Country, were the robed and hooded Jesuit missionaries. Filled with
religious fervor, their ardor to convert the Senecas to Christianity
knew no bounds. Brave and selfless, they persevered throughout
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great hardship. Four missions were established here abouts. St.
Jacques on Boughton Hill near present day Victor, then known as
Gannagaro; St. Michel’s was located two and one-half miles south of
Boughton Hill at Gandagourae. LaConception ministered to the
Senecas at Totiakton, near Honeoye Falls and St. Jean's at
Gandachiragou, between Honeoye Falls and Lima.

This was in 1667, when Father Jacques Fremin, assisted by Father
Julian Garnier and Father Pierre Ratteix, labored at Totiakton. These
former sites have yielded much evidence of the work of these men of
the Church. Black cassock buttons, rings and crucifixes were found.
A lovely silver chalice was found at Totiakton.

The Jesuits went without question to their assigned destination,
there to keep in minute detail a daily record of their life among the
Senecas. These records were sent to Quebec, and from there to the
main Order at Paris. When finally translated into English, the Jesuit
Relations filled some seventy volumes, in which students of history
were delighted.

I heard my father say, when I was a small child: “If Irondequoit
Bay could talk, it would tell us many an interesting tale.” Other than
a few trees cut for firewood and drawn up an old log road by stone
boat, the forest bordering the west side of the bay had not been too
thinned. Along the “Hogs Back™ trailing arbutus climbed. Later,
lillies, jack-in-the-pulpit, and the more delicate and fragrant violets
grew in large patches in the shade. In the fall the tall hickory and
chestnut trees yielded bountiful crops. If one were rowing on the
bay, one could reach over to pull up dripping water lilies. If sixty
years ago Nature lovers found it captivating, how much more lovely
must it have appeared in 16697

For it was in August, 1669, that a fleet of canoes glided into the
bay. Wooded slopes met the eyes of the occupants of the birch bark
canoes; silence fell upon straining ears. This party of thirty-four men
was headed by a young Frenchman, Robert Cavelier, sieur de la Salle.
Two of his group were Sulpitian priests; Rene de Galinee and
Francois de Casson.

Some men are born to seek far horizons and of such was LaSalle.
Enrolled in the Jesuit order as a youth, he found the harsh rigorous
training of that period far too confining for his restless independent
spirit. He withdrew, to strike out on a daring adventure that was not
to end until his death.
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He lived for three years in New France near Montreal. During this
time he listened to tales related to him by Indians which fired his
imagination. A rich country they said, lay far to the west, wherein
flowed a wide river which emptied into a warm gentle sea. He would
find this land and the great river!

He knew of a certainty of the land of the Senecas and of the river
that wound up from the south to mingle its waters in that of Lake
Ontario. He was aware of the Jesuit missions established among the
Senecas. He set forth, seeking as his eventual goal the Ohio River.

Did he land south of Float Bridge at the Ox-Bow, a favorite Seneca
meeting place? Fearlessly he came in peace, and Galinee records a
hospitable welcome accorded them by the Senecas. They bore gifts
of fruits, corn and pumpkins. The Frenchmen gave them in return
knives, awls, needles and glass beads. The next day LaSalle headed
for the main village of the Senecas, accompanied by the Indians. The
best cabin in Totiakton was offered them for their use. The following
day approximately fifty chiefs met, lit their pipes and pondered the
reason for this visitation. Father Fremin was absent, having left the
day before to attend a conference at Onondaga.

LaSalle spent eight days with the Senecas, during which time poor
Galinee found it difficult to eat the provisions set before him. His
fastidious nature rebelled at hairy dog meat served in greasy
dishware. He mentions a visit he and LaSalle made to Burning
Springs in the Bristol Valley, which they found puzzling. The
Senecas refused to provide a guide for LaSalle. Finally an Indian of
another tribe arrived from the east and shared their cabin. He offered
to guide them to his village. He said they would have no difficulty
obtaining a guide there to lead them to the Ohio River. Thus ended
the visit of LaSalle with the Senecas.

Another Frenchman paid a visit to the Genesee Country, via
Irondequoit Bay, seventeen years later. He came not in peace, but
armed for battle with the Seneca Indians. Many factions were
involved which made governing New France difficult. As Governor,
Count Frontenac faced many problems. European wars carried over
to the new world, with the added hazard of dealing with a primitive
people whose lands were being wrested from them. Count Frontenac
felt he was hindered by the Jesuits, who frowned on his plans for a
theatre and dances to bring cheer into the long northern winters.
They cautioned him about giving the Indians brandy, which made
them uncontrollable. The Governor wished control and settlement
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by New France; the Jesuits task was to Christianize and civilize the
natives. Count Frontenac was recalled by Louis XIV and replaced by
DelaBarre, who had won a victory over the English in the West
Indies. He proved wholly inadequate in dealing with the Iroquois, at
the same time trying to keep his overly eager hands on large fur
shipments. Nor was he successful in combating famine, disease and
lack of motivation in his men in Indian warfare.

Louis XIV faced a problem: whom to put in charge of the
interests of France in Canada! Another military man who had
excelled in handling his cavalry unit in Austria came to mind. He
bestowed the title of Marquis deDenonville upon Jacques-Rene de
Brissay, born in 1638 in the town of Denonville, and appointed him
Governor of New France. Filled with ambition and plans, he
embarked in June, 1685 for Canada with his wife and two daughters.

Although the French and English Governors feigned friendship at
first, it was of short duration. Denonville objected to the English
harboring French deserters and outlaws who became valuable guides
to the English of New York. The English Governor, Dongan,
protested the plans of a French Fort at Niagara. Denonville sought
permission of his King to execute any civilians who joined the
English and did so at the first opportunity.

Denonville quietly prepared for an attack on the Senecas in
western New York. Two hundred flat boats carrying over a ton
apiece were readied. Heavily laden canoes forged ahead from Quebec
to Kingston. The militia took a dim view of the planned attack for
they were home loving men. Only when the Church upheld it as a
crusade against the powers of Satan in the New World, did they

grudgingly begin preparations.

On a June morning in 1687, they started out from Quebec, an
army of nine hundred thirty militia and eight hundred thirty-two
troops from France. More militia were added in Montreal, where
they trained under Denonville’s direction. Two hundred Mohawks
living nearby joined them. Flat boats, batteaux and canoes again
sailed forth. The rapids slowed and threatened their craft, wrecking
two of the large boats. At times they had to carry the supplies on
shore, dragging the large boats by hand.

Any stray Iroquois encountered were taken prisoners. The plan
was to send the women and children back to the missions in Quebec
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and the men captives to France to work as slaves in the galleys. The
Frenchmen sent west during the past winter to recruit Indian allies to
join in the attack, sent a messenger to the main flotilla as they
reached Lake Ontario. A message was sent back to Niagara, directing
them to meet Denonville at Irondequoit Bay at noon of July 10th.
As they approached Irondequoit Bay, they saw the canoes and
batteaux arriving from Niagara to join them. The Miamis preferred to
travel along the shoreline. Though the Senecas had learned of the
approaching French Army from the Onondagas and had watchers
stationed on the hilltop, they remained hidden as Denonville and his
forces landed. Only the Miamis, walking the shoreline, had seen them
as they fled.

Despite setbacks, forging the river at the rapids, layovers due to
winds and rains on Lake Ontario, this unusual assemblage of crafts
and warriors arrived at their destination in a little short of a month.
The next day while construction was begun on a stockaded fort, and
thousands of loaves of bread were being baked, Denonville carried
out a nasty execution. Marion, a Frenchman formerly denied
permission to trade by the French, had been captured with English
traders in the west. Given absolution by the priest who walked with
him to the beach, he knelt down and was killed by a swift blow from
a war club.

Two days from the time of their arrival, when the fort was
completed, the battle line was formed. Militia in buckskin and
homespun alternated with the regularb in olive green. The Indian
allies in their warpaint assembled in tribal groups. There has long
been a dispute as to which side of the bay they followed. Recently,
maps have been found in France that stated they chose the west side
of the bay. Their object was Gannagaro, a large Seneca village on
Boughton Hill near present day Victor. Travelling about seven and
one-half miles the first afternoon, they made camp. At dawn they
pushed forward. The Indians wanted to stop as they were
accustomed to “boil their pots” but were denied the privilege.

In Gannagaro, the warriors of the Seneca Tribe held a council as to
their course of defense. The English Governor had warned them of
the impending war, but he did not send aid. Runners carried the
alarm to other Iroquois tribes, but as yet no help from that quarter
had arrived. They were alone at this critical hour. Some of their
warriors were away from the village. They sang, danced, applied war
paint and worked themselves to a fevered pitch of excitement. A
look-out scout bounded into their midst, warning of the long line of
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armed warriors about to descend on their village. It is said some fled
towards Honeoye, others to Canandaigua. Later three hundred
returned to back the braves who chose to defend themselves and
their village. Under the chief’s command they reluctantly held back
to listen to his plans. Divided in half, one group hid in the swamp,
the other beside the trail with some of the women joining their men.
The Senecas had the disadvantage in not knowing which of their
villages would be the first in line of attack.

Denonville’s scouts reported Seneca women working in the fields,
but that the warriors could not be seen. He was not misled by the
women stationed in the field. He gathered his forces and sent the
Indian allies down the ravine. Reaching the bottom of the slope, they
pushed through thick underbrush, when shots rang out as the
Senecas attacked. On this humid July day, the silence of the
wilderness surrounding Gannagaro was shattered with the wild
shrieks of the Indian warriors and the roar of firearms. Veterans,
watching in horror the naked, painted, howling Senecas descend
upon them with swinging tomahawks, flung themselves to the ground
in self-protection. The Ottawas, not noted for bravery, fled in
unison. Those who faced the onslaught, fought hand to hand for
their lives. The hillsides echoed the war cries of the enraged Senecas.
The very trees seemed to tremble, and many a seasoned soldier’s
heart grew faint within his breast. The Mohawks stood their ground,
for they also were noted fighters. In the mingling of the Indians,
some allies were shot by the French in the dense smoke that
permeated the battleground. Father Engelran, who wore his staunch
faith as a shield, like some black robed angel, administered to the
injured and dying, red and white alike. Finally he too fell with a
bullet wound.

Dugay, aid-de-camp to Denonville, rallied Montreal militia and
retreating Indians to back their ambushed fighting allies. As
unexpected as the onslaught began, as swiftly it ceased. The Senecas
gathered up their wounded brothers, brushed swiftly past the
bewildered French and disappeared among the trees. Had the Senecas
kept up their ferocious attack and had they been fortified by other
Iroquois tribes, Denonville and his men would surely have met their
doom. The Indians were more used’ to fighting in the thick woods
than the French. Denonville had marched in his underwear because
of the heat, but was none the less Commander. He drew his sword
and ordered his remaining men to form. Somehow his courage was
imparted to them as the call of trumpets and the beat of drums
brought order out of chaos. His Indian allies wished to pursue the
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fleeing Senecas. Denonville’s men were exhausted from their long hot
march over rugged terrain and from the battle. The army now sought
a place near a good supply of water to pitch camp. The Indians
carried on their revelry into the darkness of nightfall, when a summer
storm put an end to it, to the French soldiers relief.

Denonville seemed to have minimized his losses in his official
report. One reliable report stated ten Indians and one hundred
Frenchmen died, with a score wounded.

Without further interruption from the Senecas, Denonville and his
men moved from Gannagaro, to Gandougarae, now near Wheeler
Station Road off Route 5 and 20, east of Route 64. From there they
moved to Totiakton near Honeoye Falls. Although the Senecas had
themselves set fire to Gannagaro, Denonville and his men destroyed
whatever was left, including the crops. Finding pigs here, they
roasted them, together with green corn, whereupon dysentry broke
out among the men. At each successive Indian village they repeated
their destruction. Denonville, a ruthless white commander, found the
Indians possessed their own set of values and code of honor. They
looked with dark disapproval on the destruction of food crops, given
them by the Great Spirit. They would have no part of this as
warriors. Denonville must have had his anxieties about the fort they
left behind and his injured men. He wished to send them back to the
fort, but the Indians refused to act as guides. They expressed their
amazement that the Frenchmen never stopped to bury their dead,
leaving them lay as they dropped.

At Totiakton, over one hundred longhouses, 30’ x 50°, were
burned to the ground. The Seneca village south of Honeoye Falls was
demolished, its food supplies wiped out. The Indian allies spread out,
intent on their own separate warfare.

Denonville, dogged by bad weather, with many of the Indian allies
heading homeward, began the return march to the fort, carrying the
injured on litters. Unknown to him a large force of Iroquois was
gathering at Canandaigua. His army camped overnight at Mendon
Ponds, and on the 24th of July they reached the fort, two weeks
from the time of arrival. For two days they rested, due to the
exhaustion and illness of the men. One of the ships carried the
injured, including the priest, and the most seriously ill, towards
Kingston. Most of the Indian allies paddled off by themselves,
despite the fuming Denonville. Still free as the wind, no white man
could dictate to them for long; the battle was over.
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As for the Senecas, they gazed in bitterness over the lake as the
boats disappeared in the west. The burned sites of their former
habitation were forsaken, and they proceeded to build new villages in
more favorable locations.

“The Father above thought fit to give
The white man corn and wine;

There are golden fields where he may live,
But the forest shades are mine.”

Eliza Cook

The short sightedness of Denonville in his attack upon the Senecas
was not in favor of the long range interests of New France, for the
Indians leaned toward the English thereafter.

The last invading army to wind its way from Seneca village to
village, reducing them to smouldering embers and destroying crops,
was Sullivan’s Army in 1779. With Washington’s approval, the newly
established Country chose this way to subdue the natives who had
posed such a threat to pioneer settling. The Six Nations had been
divided in their loyalties during the Revolution. The Mohawks sided
with the King’s men, as did the Cayugas and Senecas. The Oneidas
backed the Americans, while the Tuscaroras and Onondagas
remained as a whole neutral, though many of their warriors fought
on the patriot side.

As Sullivan’s men carried out their task of wiping out the villages
of the Iroquois, they passed through the fertile valleys where “‘grass
grew taller than a man’s head on horseback.” They saw the blue
waters of the many lovely lakes, sparkling in the sun, and noted the
heavily wooded hills surrounding them. The Senecas’ crops were
bountiful; their orchards, though not cultivated as today, thriving.
The stony, worked out lands of interior New England suffered by
comparison. They carried their memories of the Genesee Valley with
them when they retumned to their New England homes. The
wilderness presented a challenge to the pioneer spirit of these men,
exciting their interest and new hope for their future.
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LAND SPECULATION

The war drew to a close with its attendant loss of life and
hardships. The Indians were no longer a threat to pioneer settling.
Land claims in western New York by both New York State and
Massachusetts were based on Royal Charters. King Charles II granted
the Duke of York lands reaching to the Pacific. The Indian claim
came first of all, recognized by New Netherlands in 1618, who
advised their colonists to pay the red men for their lands. New
France laid claim to western New Y ork for well over a century and a
half. Both the Dutch and French claims were extinguished by English
conquests. Land extending beyond the present western borders of
the State were ceded to the United States Government by both New
York State and Massachusetts.

They resolved to attempt to compromise, calling a conference at
Hartford, Connecticut, November 1786. Massachusetts was granted
the right to dispose of the lands, and New York State was granted
jurisdiction.

The Hartford Treaty’s negotiations were hardly concluded before
speculators, eager to invest in this great stretch of forested land, were
pressing their bids. A group of men, headed by Oliver Phelps and
Nathaniel Gorham, were the purchasers. Other members of this
group were Robert Morris of Philadelphia, William Wadsworth and

his cousin Jeremiah of Connecticut, Israel Chapin, William Walker
and Judge James Sullivan. The latter had represented the interests of
Massachusetts in the recent treaty.

Oliver Phelps of Granville, Massachusetts, was a native of
Connecticut. He had been superintendent of purchasing of supplies
during the Revolution. Later he held a number of political offices.
Nathaniel Gorham, born in Massachusetts and now residing in
Charlestown, also had filled several political offices after the war’s
termination. Although at first they had entertained plans of making
individual land purchases, they felt it the wiser course to pool their
interests, joined by the parties mentioned above. They purchased the
whole 6,000,000 acres for about 300,000 pounds or about
$175,000, in Massachusetts currency, to be paid in three
installments. This amounted to about three cents an acre. Fulfilling a
requisite of the Hartford conference, they proceeded to clear the
Indian title.
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In May, 1788, their representatives arrived at Kanadesaga (Geneva)
to arrange for a treaty with the Iroquois. They found them already in
council with men representing the “The Lessee Company.” This
group had attempted to thwart the efforts of the Hartford Treaty.
Composed of well-known men in political and social circles in New
York, they had actually obtained a lease from the Six Nations for
999 years for all their lands in New York State for a paltry sum per
year. Upon presenting the petition however to the Legislature later,
it was rejected. Massachusetts also refused to recognize the legality of
the lease. In view of their harrassment of the State with various
actions, it is hard to understand why New York State settled a tract
of land ten miles square in the Military Tract on members of this
company.

In July of 1788, the Indians met with Mr. Phelps at Buffalo Creek,
to discuss transferring title of their lands. When Mr. Phelps made
lnown he was desirous of obtaining land west of the Genesee River,
Red Jacket was eloquent in protesting such action. He said the Great
Spirit had made the river the dividing line between the red man and
the white; that he meant the land west of the Genesee River to be
theirs forever. Seeing the Indians were not easily moved at this point,
Mr. Phelps said he wished to build a mill for the benefit of the
settlers at the Genesee Falls (now Rochester) and that the Indians
would also benefit by using it. Reluctantly they agreed, no doubt
thinking he would not need much acreage for just a saw and grist
mill. They were astounded when it turned out to be a strip twelve
miles wide and twenty-eight miles long, or about 200,000 acres.
Having given their word, they held to their promise. In this they were
more honest by far than the men who took such glaring advantage.
The deed of surrender was signed by Red Jacket, Little Beard,
Farmer’s Brother and Joseph Brant, as well as containing the
signatures of Cayugas, Mohawks, Onondagas, including seven squaws.

In Canandaigua in 1789, the Indians expressed their resentment at
the handling of this whole affair. They felt they received only half of
what they were led to believe they would be paid, for they thought it
would be $10,000. Timothy Pickering, Superintendent of Indian
Affairs, met with them later and Cornplanter, accompanied by
Seneca chiefs, went to Philadelphia after meeting with Pickering.
There they discussed the situation with no less person than George
Washington. Oliver Phelps produced affidavits to show that $5,000
was the sum agreed upon, with an annuity of $500. Whatever the
situation at Buffalo Creek, this was all they ever received. Possibly by
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smooth talking, he might have given the impression they would
receive more. Perhaps under the influence of gifts and liquor they
may not have realized how much they were sacrificing for this
inadequate sum of money, for obviously they did not have the same
conception of money the white man had. At any rate, it didn’t
hinder the purchasers any in going ahead in their plans. They
conducted a land survey and opened up a land office in Canandaigua,
the first of its kind in the United States. The original organization
did not stay together after the fore part of 1789. They divided the
lands amongst themselves; the largest tract being held by Oliver
Phelps and Nathaniel Gorham.

Phelps and Gorham then found themselves faced with financial
difficulties. The National Government assumed the states’ war debts,
and the value of Massachusetts currency nearly doubled in value.
Land payments were delayed as Phelps and Gorham were forced by
this turn of events to return all lands for which the Indian title had
not been extinguished. In 1791 the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
received the western lands and made a fair adjustment in the price of
the land east of the Genesee River. In order to extricate themselves
from debt, Phelps and Gorham were forced to sell the rest of the
unsold land they held, with the exception of two townships, which
they kept for themselves. Forty-eight townships had been sold
previously.

Robert Morris, former Secretary of the Treasury during the
Revolutionary War, was the purchaser. He had distinguished himself
in that office during very trying times. Washington had found himself
with a poorly clothed, poorly fed, penniless army. Robert Morris
won capitalists of other countries to loan large sums of money
largely through their trust in him. He also advanced money of his
own to help win the war.

In purchasing Genesee Country land, he became possessor of
about 1,300,000 acres of land for which he paid $75,000, which
amounted to approximately eight cents an acre. Mr. Morris had the
land resurveyed, immediately recognizing descrepancies in the
original survey. The pre-emption line was straightened on the east,
which previously had eliminated thousands of acres of land belonging
to the purchase. The western border survey had been equally
erroneous, including lands that had never been purchased or sold.
The so-called Triangle Tract was restored to the Indians.



ENGLISH INVESTORS

In the fall of 1790, Robert Morris sent his agent, William Temple
Franklin, grandson of Benjamin Franklin, to England to interest
purchasers in his American lands. Born and educated in London,
trained in diplomatic matters by his sage grandfather for nearly a
decade, Franklin felt he was well qualified for his present task.
Carrying pamphlets describing the lands of western New York State,
he drew the interest of William Johnstone Pulteney, a wealthy
capitalist and friend, William Hornby, ex-Governor of Bombay,
India, now retired, and Patrick Colquhoun. If it seems strange at first
thought that lands in New York State should be purchased by
Englishmen, we must realize our Country was in its infancy, and
money was scarce. Alexander Hamilton, Secretary of Treasury, hoped
to promote diplomatic relations with Great Britain and circulation of

‘foreign capital within our borders.

Patrick Colquhoun had worked as a young man in Virginia and
founded the Glasgow Chamber of Commerce in Scotland upon his
return to the British Isles.

Sir William Johnstone Pulteney was born in Dumfriesshire,
Scotland. A lawyer and member of Parliament, he married the heir of
the Earl of Bath. This brought him wealth and title. He possessed a
faith in young America’s development, which he followed with
continued interest, occasionally making investments in American
bank stock. He decided in February of 1791, in favor of the purchase
of the Genesee lands. With William Hornby present, documents were
prepared with Patrick Colquhoun as chief negotiator. The final
agreement was to pay 75,000 lbs. or about $275,000, amounting to
twenty-six cents an acre, which afforded Robert Morris a fair profit.
William Franklin informed the London capitalists that Robert Morris
was to receive the money at once, but negotiations dragged through
March and April. For one thing, a suitable agent had to be found to
represent the London Associates in western New York. The laws of
New York State prohibited foreigners from owning land therein.
Relations in the meantime were gradually improving between United
States and England, with the latter sending their first minister to the
new Country.

Sir William Pulteney’s share in the land enterprise was
nine-twelfths, Hornby’s two-twelfths and Patrick Colquhoun’s
one-twelfth, a reward of his efforts as negotiator.
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The canny Scotsman, Colquhoun, had a clause inserted in the
agreement to include onefifteenth of the net profit of the
Association to be shared by himself, Morris and Templeton. The two
latter, however, withdrew their names and took an immediate
settlement in regard to this clause. Colquhoun also introduced a man
qualified to act as their American agent, Charles Williamson, another
Scotsman. Patrick Colquhoun drove another sharp bargain with
Williamson, who agreed to finance moving his family to their
American destination, when he was to receive 2-1/2 percent
commission, which was not overly generous. One’s sympathies are
inclined to be with Williamson, whose dreams and efforts were never
wholly fulfilled. The Williamson family boarded the sailboat
“Robinson” on July 8, 1791, which sprung a leak, waylaying them
a month. They never put foot on shore at Norfolk until November
9th, seventeen weeks after boarding. This proved a costly trip, both
financially and in the family’s health. Eventually the Williamsons
settled in their wilderness home in Bath, New York.

The young Franklin also found he was dealing with shrewd
investors; however they agreed to make substantial payments in 1792
and 1793 to Robert Morris.

In western New York, 1791 was the year the first settler arrived in
Township XII, Range VII, of the Phelps and Gorham Purchase,
which was to become Henrietta. Ezekiel Scott made a clearing of
about three acres on his nine hundred acres of land, in the
southwestern part of the township. This tract was purchased directly
from Oliver Phelps for 200 lbs., according to old records of deeds, on
November 1, 1790. '

Old histories give his name as Major Isaac Scott, but this is
erroneous. The name appearing on the deed is Ezekiel and Catherine
Scott. Former histories also state Mr. Scott received a land grant.
According to the recorded deed, this is not so in regard to his
Henrietta property. Military grants were not given west of Seneca
Lake. Federal land grants were not given in New York State at the
time.

Ezekiel Scott, the son of Hezekiah, was born November 12, 1734
in Farmington, Connecticut. He married Catherine Mills of
Wallingford on June 23, 1763. They were the parents of four girls
and five boys. Ezekiel served in the Revolution in three different
campaigns and regiments from 17735 until 1780. In 1784 he joined
the Connecticut Cincinnati Society, being listed as a Major, for which
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Westminster Abbey. The following is a copy of the entry in The
Complete Peerage, Vol. 11, pages 27-28, of England. Following this
is an article appearing in the “Gentlemen’s Magazine” of 1808,
published in England after the Countess’ death. Where dates given
conflict, it would be wise to rely upon the Peerage account.

COPIED FROM “THE COMPLETE PEERAGE”
BARONY.

1. 1792.

EARLDOOM

XI. 1803 to 1808

1. HENRIETTA LAURA PULTENEY (formerly JOHNSTONE),
spinster, only da. and h. of WILLIAM PULTENEY (formerly
JOHNSTONE), afterwards (1794) Sir WILLIAM P., Bart. (S.), by
Frances, daughter and eventually sole heir of Daniel PULTENEY
(who was son and heir of John P., next brother to William P., the
father of William Pulteney, cr., in 1742, Earl of Bath, as aforesaid.),
was born 26 December 1766, and baptized 29 January 1767, at St.
James’s Westminster. Having succeeded her mother on first of June
1782, in the Pulteney estates, she was cr., 26 July 1792, BARONESS
OF BATH, Somerset, with rem. of that Barony to the heirs male of
her body, and, on 26 October 1803, was Cr. COUNTESS OF BATH,
Somerset, with a similar rem. of that Earldom. She married (spec. lic.
at Fac. off.), 24 July 1794 at Bath House, Piccadilly, St. George,
Han. Sq., her cousin, Gen. the Rt. Hon. Sir James Murray, afterwards
MURRAY-PULTENEY, Bart. (S.), Col. of the 18th Foot, sometime
Secretary at War, who on his marriage (when he was aged 30 and
upwards and a bachelor) assumed the additional surname of
Pulteney. The Countess died s.p., at Brighton 14, and was buried 28
July, 1808, from her house in Piccadilly, in the South Cloister of
Westminster Abbey, aged 41, when her Peerages became extinct. Will
probated Aug. 1808. Her husband enjoyed for life the vast Pulteney
estates (about L. 50,000 a year), and died from an accident, 26 April
1811, at Buckenham, Norfolk. Will prob. 1811.

COPIED FROM “GENTLEMAN’S MAGAGINE”, 1808

from Municipal Libraries

& Victoria Art Gallery, Bath, England
17-7-1965.

Peter Pagan, Director

to E.C. Kalsbeck, Henrietta

“At her house at Brightelmstone, Henrietta-Laura Pulteney,
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Countess of Bath in her own right, and wife of Sir James Murray
Pulteney, bart, the present secretary at war. She appeared to have
had a presentiment of her approaching dissolution, from the
following words which she uttered to her attendant soon after taking
some refreshment: ‘Mary, I am better today, and I shall not give you
much trouble tomorrow; but watch constantly by me to-day, Mary;
for to me it will be a day of great consequence.” Her Ladyship was
the last representative of William Pulteney, Earl of Bath; and dying
without issue, her title becomes extinct. On the death of her father,
Sir William Pulteney, without a will. Lady Bath paid the sum of 6000
L. stamped-duties, for letters of administration, his property having
exceeded 500,000 L. and that being the largest duty on any sum. Her
remains were removed, on the 23rd, from her house in Piccadilly to
Westminister Abbey, for interment. At one o’clock the procession
moved in the following order:

Two porters on horseback.
Eight horsemen.
Two porters on horseback.
State lid of feathers, with black velvet drapery and heraldry.
A man on horseback, bearing a velvet cushion, with a coronet.
The state-coach, with six horses, decorated with coronets
and escocheons.
The Hearse, drawn by six horses, covered with fine black plumes and
adorned with rich black fringed draperies.

Fourteen mourning coaches and six; in the first were, as chief
mourners, Sir John Johnstone and Mr. Murray. In the other carriages
were the Earls of Darlington and Stair; Lords Kinnaird and
Sitdmouth; Sir David Wedderburne; Colonel Molesworth; Doctor
Dyer; Messrs. Hall, Johnstone, G. Ferguson, Jones, Alexander,
Adams, James, Morland, Herries, Cockrell, Hammersley, Bailey,
Mason, and Sundies, after which followed, Nineteen private carriages,
each with two servants, with black silk hatbands and black gloves;
amongst them were those of the Countess of Bath, Sir James
Pulteney, Lady William Pulteney, Sir David Wedderburne; the Earls
of Darlington and Stair; Lord Kinnaird; and several carriages of the
gentlemen who attended.

At two o’clock, the coffin was lowered into the new vault, close to
the late Sir William Pulteney, in the West Cloisters.”
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COPIED FROM “BATH HERALD?, June 24, 1809*
THE LATE COUNTESS OF BATH

“Her Ladyship had many peculiarities and eccentricities, which,
when they were the subjects of conversation, were not lessened by
those who reported them, nor mitigated by any gentleness of terms
in those who heard them. She associated very little with persons of
her own rank, so that among them she had but few advocates. There
was certainly something in her education peculiarly unsuitable to her
rank, at least in its minor parts. By the early death of her mother, she
was left almost entirely to the superintendance of her father, who,
though he was allowed to possess good, if not superior abilities, and
sound judgment, had a reserve and sterness, in his character which
did not qualify him for the education of a young lady. Some of her
peculiarities were probably derived from this source, as there was a
shyness and reserve in her manner which made it difficult to be on
terms of freedom with her; and she had no opportunity of acquiring
what are called the ornamental parts of education. Nor was her
manner altogether suitable to her rank, not being embellished with
those interesting and engaging qualities which are seen and felt by
everyone who has an opportunity of conversing with persons of
distinction, in whom good sense is happily blended with polished
manners. She gained, however, much useful knowledge, and in those
affairs which may be called business, she was considered as expert,
and was certainly persevering when she did apply to them. Perhaps
those who attended her, unwilling to run the risk of offending,
studied more to please and to indulge, than to instruct her, and in
early life she was left much to her own will. It is true, that some who
were placed about her were both capable and desirous of doing their
duty, but unfortunately this was not till her habits had taken too
deep root to be dltered. Of her peculiarities she was herself very
sensible, and more than once observed, that she believed people
thought her very odd, and sometimes used a harsher term. In the
dispensation of a portion of her large fortune, she showed much
judgment, and was careful not to be imposed upon by
misrepresentations. Those who paid her attention, or from whom
she received any service, she rewarded with liberality. There never
was occasion to use anything like adulation with her, though she
knew what was due to herself. Many were the occasions on which her
benevolence was displayed, both in a pecuniary way and when
personal exertions, extremely disagreeable to her, were required.
These objects of her kindness were not always blameless; but she
would not desert them, till by a repetition of some offense they had
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forfeited her favour. She was truly religious herself, and never
countenanced those who slighted or neglected the duties of religion.
In a word, whatever disadvantages resulted from the errors of her
education, were essentially corrected by her religious principles. To
dress she never paid much attention, and was often censurably
neglectful in that particular. Her conversation was unaffected, but
sensible, and always perfectly correct. The Right Hon. Henrietta
Laura Pulteney Countess of Bath, Viscountess Pulteney and Baroness
of Hayden, in her own right, was married in 1794 to Sir James
Murray, now Sir James Pulteney, by whom she had no issue. Her
Ladyship died on the 14th of July, 1808. She has left to Sir James
Pulteney the income, for his life, of all her personal property,
amounting to near six hundred thousand pounds. After his decease
this immense property is bequeathed to her cousin, who was the wife
of the Reverend Mr. Markham, son to the late Archbishop of York.
That lady, the daughter of Sir Richard Sutton, was divorced some
years ago from her husband, and lived, during several years,
principally under Lady Bath’s protection. The fortune is fo descend
to her children by Rev. Markham. Sir John Johnston, the Earl of
Darlington, and Sir R. Sutton, all inherit very considerable estates.
Her Ladyship’s remains were interred in the west cloisters of
Westminster Abbey, close to those of her father, the late Sir William
Pulteney.”

See page 356 for armorial bearings of Henrietta Laura, Countess of
Bath.

*Courtesy: Municipal Libraries and Victoria Art Gallery, Bath,
England.
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DUTCH PROPRIETORS AND THEIR AMERICAN AGENT

A deed recorded in the Ontario County Clerk’s office in 1794,
revealed a purchase of “one equal undivided third part of” Township
XII, Range VII (Henrietta), between Charles Williamson of Bath,
New York, (the London Associates” agent) and James Wadsworth of
Geneseo, the purchaser. “In consideration of the sum of five
thousand six hundred and fifty-six pounds, sixteen shillings lawful
money of the State of New York.” This was the price for an
estimated 7,070 acres and 150 perches, “more or less.” At this time
two hundred acres of equal value with the average was to be granted
for the support of religion and schools, and not to be included in the
sale.

A second deed recorded in Ontario County in 1799, revealed a
land transaction between Charles Williamson of the first part, and
Abigail his wife, of Bath, New York, and Thomas Morris and James
Wadsworth of the second part, for the sum of four thousand pounds
for ten thousand acres in Township XII, Range VII.

A deed recorded in the Office of The Secretary of State, dated
March 12, 1799, shows that James Wadsworth of Geneseo purchased
11,412 acres from Charles Williamson of Bath, for $5,000. (dollars).
In every other instance the amounts paid are recorded in pounds.
Was this instance an error in recording? The Colonial pound was
worth $2.50 in New York State. Later, from 1789 to 1834 the
United States pound was worth $4.566.

James Wadsworth of Geneseo sailed to Europe in 1796 to acquaint
himself with land investors and to secure agencies for himself. Born
in Connecticut in 1768, he was a graduate of Yale College and had
taught school in Montreal for a few years. His cousin, Jeremiah
Wadsworth, interested James and his brother William in lands in the
Genesee Valley. William’s energies were directed toward the land
itself and its cultivation, whereas James was to spend forty years in
its sales promotion. He was recommended by Robert Morris to his
English business associates. While in Europe he received a contract of
Dr. Willem Six, statesman and capitalist of The Netherlands, and two
associates, to secure lands and represent them as the agent. Thus
lands of Township XII, Range VII (Henrietta), of the Phelps and
Gorham Purchase, became the possession of Dr. Willem Six, Peter
DeSmeth and John Samuel Coudere of Amsterdam, Holland. Because
of a law prohibiting foreigners from owning lands in New York State,
the title was to be invested in the name of the agent. In 1798
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however, the New York State Assembly passed an “‘Alien Land
Holding Act”, enabling foreign investors to hold title to purchased
lands. This act was for three years, but was renewed from session to
session.

According to the contract between the Holland proprietor and the
agent, the latter was to secure lands in the Genesee Country “at the
least possible price.” This Mr. Wadsworth had already accomplished,
but he resold it to the Dutch investors at a tidy profit!

Later this contract, according to Mr. James Wadsworth in a letter
written by him, was modified by himself.

On the 13th of March, 1799, James Wadsworth of Geneseo (then)
Ontario County, New York, transferred (according to an Indenture)
in consideration of 10,000 pounds, eleven thousand four hundred
and twelve acres in Township XII, Range VII, to Willem Six, Pieter
DeSmeth and John Samuel Coudere of Amsterdam, Holland. On the
16th of March, 1799, an Indenture between Thomas Morris of
Canandaigua, and James Wadsworth of the Town of Geneseo, of the
first part, and Willem Six, Pieter DeSmeth, and John Samuel Coudere
of Amsterdam, Holland, of the second part, transferred in
consideration of 10,000 pounds of lawful money of the said State of
New York, land in the amount of 10,000 acres in Township XII,
Range VII, (Henrietta). Thus the lands within the township were sold
in two large tracts to the Dutch investors.

Township XII, Range VII of the Phelps and Gorham Purchase,
first known as the West Woods of Pittsford and West-Town, then
Henrietta (in 1817), is bounded on the north by West Brighton and
on the south by the Town of Rush. The neighboring towns of
Pittsford and Mendon form its eastern border. The western boundry
is the ancient Genesee River.

The township was a part of Northfield, Ontario County, at the
time of settlement. In 1772 Tryon County was taken from Albany
County and included all the lands west of the Hudson River. In 1784
this name was changed to Montgomery County. Ontario County was
separated from Montgomery County in 1789, and stretched from
Seneca Lake to the state’s western border. Genesee County was
formed west of the Genesee River in 1802. By 1821 the County of
Monroe was organized from Ontario and Genesee Counties. Our
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County was named for James Monroe, then President of the United
States.

The Town of Northfield included towns known today as Pittsford,
Henrietta, as well as Penfield, Brighton, Irondequoit and Webster.
Inasmuch as a town formed in 1788 in Richmond County had been
named Northfield, Northfield in Ontario County was renamed Boyle
in 1808. In 1814 the township was renamed Pittsford.

The following is a letter sent to Mrs. Eleanor C. Kalsbeck, Town
Historian, from Jonkheer Dr. William Cornelis Six, former Chief of
the Cabinet of the Burgomaster of the Hague, Holland. The Jonkheer
is a direct descendent of Dr. Cornelis Charles Six.

’S-Gravenhage 31 August, 1965
Stadhuis (State House)

Dear Mrs. Kalsbeck:

I am now sending some detailed information concerning Dr.
Willem Six and his younger brother my great-great-grandfather, Dr.
Cornelis Charles Six.

The two brothers were born from the marriage of Dr. Willem
Fabricius Six (1725-1807) and Alpheda Louise de Visscher
(1738-1810). Although both were born in Amsterdam (Willem in
1761 and Cornelis Charles in 1772), they both had official functions
later which necessitated their living for a length of time in the Hague.

Dr. Willem Six held a number of important offices during the
period in which The Netherlands were very closely connected with
France. For example, he was deputed by the Netherlands
Government to participate in Paris in the peace negotiations between
the two countries in 1795. Again, in 1803, also in Paris, he took part
in the consultations during which the conditions were laid down
under which the Batavian Republic would give aid to France in the
war against England. In 1806 he became a Member of the Council of
State of the Napoleonic Kingdom of Holland, and from 1808 to
1810 he was Minister to the Russian Court at Moscow. As a
curiousity, it might be mentioned the Municipal Archives of the
Hague show that from 1806 to 1810 he paid an annual sum for the
patent granted to him to use hair powder. In 1811 he died in
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Amsterdam as a result of an accident, which is described in the
records in these words: ‘Being out in the evening at about 9:30 P.M.,
he fell into the water, possibly as the result of sudden dizziness. His
body was found the next morning (July 31) in the Keizersgracht.’ He
never married.

Dr. Cornelis Charles Six, Lord of Oterleek on Lagg Teylingen, was
enobled in 1815 with the title of Jonkheer and awarded the Grand
Cross in the Order of the Netherlands Lion, which he is seen wearing
in the oil-painting of which a copy is enclosed. In 1820 he was
created Baron by right of primogeniture. He married twice: first with
Anna Helena Ter Borch from 1797-1815, and in 1821 until his death
with Baroness Samuelle Theophile Gansneb, called Tengnagel.

Like his brother Dr. Cornelis Charles Six held a number of
important public offices. For some time he was a member of the
Amsterdam City Council and of the House of Representatives. Then
after the fall of Napoleon and the return of the House of Orange to
The Netherlands in 1813, he became Minister of Finance in the
Government of the Kingdom of The Netherlands, a function in
which he showed great ability as he succeeded in turning an 1814
budget deficit of almost FL. 18.000.000 into a surplus of about FL.
10.000.000. Moreover, as a result of his intervention, the high duties
which had been levied on all private Dutch trade with America since
the establishment of the West Indian Company were lowered and
made equal to those operating for European trade. This step greatly
contributed to the flourishing of the trade with the United States. In
1821 he became President of the Nederlandsche Handelmaatschappij
(Netherlands Trading Company).

The union of Holland with Belgium in 1815 meant that for six
months of every year the seat of the Dutch Government was in
Brussels. From personal correspondence of Cornelis Charles Six with
one of his friends it seems that the internal political situatioq was not
particularly rosy in those days, because he said in one of his letters:
“The whole show makes me wish I was in my North American lands.
He died in Utrecht in 1833.

Dr. Cornelis Charles Six was both great-great-great grandfather of
Baron Willem Six van Oterleek, of Haarlem, born in 1927, the owner
of the two enclosed copies of pastel drawings of the two brothers, as
well as great-great-grandfather of myself, Jonkheer Dr. Willem
Cornelis Six, born in 1902, and owner of the enclosed copy of the
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Articles of Agreement
(Courtesy: New York Historical Society)

Articles of Agreement, made this fifteenth Day of June, in the Year
of Our Lord, One Thousand Seven Hundred and Ninety-eight,
between M.M. Willem Six, and Hendrik Cornelis Serrurier, acting as
well for ourselves, as for other persons to be concerned in this
business, and answering for those persons, of the City of Amsterdam,
on the first part, and James Wadsworth, now in the said City of
Amsterdam, of the Town of Geneseo, in the County of Ontario, and
the State of New York, and Adriaan VanderHoop of the City of
Elburg, on the second part.

The said parties to those present, for themselves, their Heirs,
Executors, Administrators, Assigne mutual by covenant and agree as
follows:

Firstly.

M.M. James Wadsworth and Adriaan VanderHoop shall procure at
the least price possible, the purchase of such tracts of land, situated
in the Genesee Country as they shall judge to offer the best prospect
of future advantages, either by resale or by letting them out to
farmers.

Secondly.

Mr. James Wadsworth and Adriaan VanderHoop shall be at liberty
to employ to such purchases as a Capital Sum of Eighteen Thousand
Dollars, under the conditions and restrictions mentioned in the
present Articles of Agreement.

Thirdly.

The Title to the lands to be purchased shall be examined by two
of the Counsellors at Law of the first eminence and ability at New
York, who shall be appointed to that purpose by M.M. John Murray
and Son, correspondents of M.M. Willem Six and Hendrik Cornelis
Serrurier as aforesaid.

M.M. James Wadsworth and Adriaan VanderHoop, shall not make
any purchases whatsoever, but of such lands, whereof the Title shall
have been declared by the said Counsellors at Law perfectly clear and
unencumbered.

Fourthly.

The property of the lands shall be common property, at common
Risks, Benefits, and Expenses, to M.M. Willem Six and Hendrik
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Cornelis Serrurier as aforesaid, and Mr. James Wadsworth, as will
more fully appear hereafter, provided, nevertheless, that the title of
the one equal and undivided moiety of the lands purchased shall be
vested in the name of the said M.M. Willem Six and Hendrik Cornelis
Serrurier, and that the title of the other equal and undivided moiety
shall be vested in M.M. John Murray and Samuel Ward, or in case of
decease, of one, then in the surviving of them, as Trustees. — The
Declaration of Trust having to recite, that, provided Mr. James
Wadsworth shall well and truly pay to M.M. John Murray and Son,
the one-half of the purchase money with interest at the rate of 4%
per annum, accruing therein, within the term of five years (as shall
appear in the following Articles, that then the remaining unsold part
of said moiety of the Lands shall belong to Mr. James Wadsworth. —
But in default of the said one-half of the said purchase money and
said interest, and every part thereof, being punctually paid within the
time aforesaid, the said moiety shall belong and immediately be
conveyed to the said M.M. Willem Six, Hendrik Cornelis Serreurier as
aforesaid.
Fifthly.

As the Money, by which the purchases will be paid, shall be
advanced wholly by M.M. Willem Six and Hendrik Cornelis Serrurier,
as aforesaid, Mr. James Wadsworth shall give at every purchase, his
Bond for the half of the purchase money.

This Bond shall be in behalf of Mr. Willem Six and Hendrik
Cornelis Serrurier, as aforesaid, and delivered to M.M. John Murray
and Son.

It will contain the obligation of repaying after the expiration of
five years, since the date of the payments of the purchases, the half
of the purchase money, with the Interest accrued in it, at the rate of
4% yearly; which interest therefore shall amount to 20% of the
Capital sum.

Sixthly.

M.M. James Wadsworth and Adriaan VanderHoop are hereby
appointed as the Agents of M.M. Willem Six and Hendrik Cornelis
Serrurier as aforesaid, for the reselling or letting out at Leases of
those Lands, and all other Business, arising from the Management of
those Sales and Leases.

Seventhly.

The said Agents shall have the faculty of reselling the Lands
purchased, or of letting them out, at rents to Farmers of the
Country.
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M.M. John Murray and Son and Samuel Ward, as well as Bearers of
the power of Attorney of M.M. Willem Six and Hendrik Cornelis
Serrurier, as aforesaid, for the one moiety, as Trustees for the other
moiety, will be invested with proper powers to give the Title of the
Lands, when the Sale, made by the said Agents, shall require a full
deed and conveyance. — But in this case the Land shall remain
mortgaged for the payment unpaid, and those mortgages, shall be
vested in the names M.M. Willem Six and Hendrik Cornelis Serrurier
as aforesaid. They shall equally be invested with proper powers of
letting the Lands at leases, according to the Contracts made to that
purpose.

Eighthly.

The Money proceeding from the Sales, or from the Leases, will be
paid into the hands of M.M. John Murray and Son. — And the half of
those Receipts will always go in diminution of the Capital Sum owed
by Mr. James Wadsworth. — He shall moreover not pay any Interest
from the very day of the Reimbursements.

As soon as the Money owed by Mr. James Wadsworth, and the
interests shall have been reimbursed, the Agents shall only pay to
M.M. John Murray and Son the half of their Receipts, either from
the Sales or from the Leases and the other half will be paid out by
the said Agents to Mr. James Wadsworth himself.

Ninthly.

As soon as the Agents shall have made any purchases, they shall
aquaint M.M. Willem Six and Hendrik Cornelis Serrurier with it,
sending over as soon as possible the Maps of the acquired property,
with their Field notes, and all others as they shall deem necessary or

useful.
Tenthly.

Every half year at the. of the Months of June and December,
the Agents will send in to M.M. Willem Six and Hendrik Cornelis
Serrurier a note of the Sales, that have been made, and also of the
Leases, with of the Stipulations of the Contracts.

Eleventhly.

They will also, twice in the year, at the end of the Months June
and December, settle the accounts of their receipts and close them

40



by the remittance to M.M. John Murray and Son, of the Settled
objects which may remain unclosed.

They will send copies of those Accounts to M.M. Willem Six and
Hendrik Cornelis Serrurier as aforesaid.

Twelfthly.

If the Agents against all expectation, may become deficient in
settling and closing those Accounts in the manner aforesaid, Messrs,
John Murray and Son, and Samuel Ward will be at liberty to refuse
to deliver Title of the Sales, or to approve the Contracts of the
Leases, which afterwards might be made by the said Agents.

Thirteenthly.

At the expiration of five years, if the Party on the first part, or Mr.
James Wadsworth will desire it, the remaining property shall be
divided into two parts, which will be deemed on an average of equal
value. — This Division shall be made by M.M. John Murray and Son;
or such person as will be chosen by them on one part and Mr. James
Wadsworth on the other. — In case of disagreement they shall choose
an Umpire, who shall decide the points in contestation.

The two parts shall be divided by the Lot: The part which will go
to Mr. Wadsworth shall be transferred to him, provided nevertheless
that the money owed by Mr. Wadsworth shall have been paid off
accordingly, to the stipulations of the fourth Article of the
Agreement.

Fourteenthly.

As Mr. James Wadsworth is considering the advance of his half of
the purchase money, on the terms aforesaid, as a reasonable
compensation for the trouble of the Agency, he shall have nothing to
bring in Account on this subject.

To Mr. Adriaan VanderHoop are hereby allowed:

1. A Compensation of five hundred Dollars a year for the first two
years, which compensation will be paid out of the sum of Two
Thousand Five hundred Dollars, mentioned in the following 15th
Articles of this Agreement.

2. The property of a Farm of Hundred Acres, out of the Lands to
be purchased, half flat Land, hdlf other Lands, with which he l:S to
be presented and invested with the Title as soon as possible,
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without any purchase money to be paid by him.

3. A Retribution of Ten % of the half of all receipts to be made on
Account of the benefits on the resales or Leases of the Lands to be
purchased, which retributing will be supported only on the side of
M.M. Willem Six and Hendrix Cornelis Serrurier, as aforesaid.

Fifteenthly.

Out of the sum of Eighteen Thousend Dollars, mentioned in the
Second Article of this Agreement, there shall be appropriated a Sum
of Two Thousand five hundred Dollars, to be expended in the
Surveyings and other expenses, deemed necessary by the Agents to
the complete Survey of this Enterprise; — provided the sum of five
hundred dollars yearly allowed for the first five years to Mr. Adrigan
Vander Hoop, to be comprehended under the said sum of Two
Thousand five hundred Dollars.

The Agents shall not be at liberty to transgress the said sum of
Two Thousand five hundred Dollars.

There will be allowed to the Agents the faculty of bringing in
Account for their trifling expenses at most the sum of Hundred and
Fifty dollars every year for the first five years to come.

Sixteenthly.

In face of the unhappy and unforeseen event of the death of Mr.
Wadsworth, all sales or letting out of leases will be stopped, and the
party on the first part, and his heirs shall have the faculty of claiming
the division mentioned in the 13th Article of this Agreement under
the conditions stipulated in the said Article.

Seventeenthly.

In all objects, respecting the said Agency, and not finally, settled
by those Articles of Agreement, the Agents shall be bound to follow
the directions to be given to them by the said M.M. Willem Six and
Hendrik Cornelis Serrurier as aforesaid.

The Agents will keep up always by triplicate, a regular
correspondence with the said M.M. Willem Six, Hendrik Cornelis
Serrurier, as aforesaid and never suffer two monthly to pass away
without writing to them and giving all such information as they may
deem agreeable and useful.

In witness whereof the parties aforesaid have interchangably
hereunto set their Hands and Seals this fifteenth Day of June in the
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year of our Lord, one Thousand Seven Hundred and Ninety eight.

W. Six

H. Serrurier

James Wadsworth
Adriaan VanderHoop

Signed, Sealed and delivered, The words and Son being first
interlined in the Seventh Article; and Samuel Ward being first
interlined in the Twelfth Article, Benefits on the being first
interlined in theFourteenth Article in the presents of

C.C. Six (Cornelis Charles)
H.J. Swarth
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WEST-TOWN SETTLERS

To interest New Englanders in settling in western New York,
James Wadsworth visited towns in New England, giving out handbills
extolling the virtues of the virgin lands. He held small meetings where
farmers would gather to hear him speak about the possibilities
awaiting the pioneer farmer. He offered to exchange New England
farms for farm land in the Genesee Country. The New England farms
would be appraised and allowance made accordingly. His plan was to
persuade a score of families to settle in a new township, who would
in turn induce their friends and neighbors to follow. As soon as this
occurred, he would double the price of land per acre. This would
make up for the loss incurred on the wornout farms in New England.
Handbill from the office of Hon. James W. Wadsworth: “The lands in
Henrietta are excellent and the ‘settlement’ very flourishing. The lots
adjoining the Genesee River containing very handsome portions of
timbered flats are put at five dollars per acre, the back lots are four
dollars per acre.”*

On the part of the New Englander immigrating west, many factors
were involved. The top soil was gone on their stony farms which had
been exhausted by poor agricultural methods. There were no markets
for the inland farmers for the crops they did raise. Their sons,
looking for farms on which to settle, found few productive ones
available. The Embargo Act left countless sailors on dry land to add
to the population. In western New York the pioneer saw a chance to
improve the lot of himself and his family. Restless and independent,
he perhaps longed to throw off all fetters, even in regards to
restrictions of an orthodox religion. Many chose to journey to the
land of bright promise.

Oftentimes the head of the family would first make the journey
alone on foot or horseback. He would arrive at the land office where
he would be put up until he could go over the maps with the land
agent. After picking out a piece of land, he would be shown the
contract and asked to sign. Furnished with a guide, he would proceed
to his wilderness farm. The next step would be to erect a log shelter,
clear from three to ten acres of land and plant a crop of grain. In the
fall he would return to his family. While the ground was frozen and
covered with snow, he would start out with his family with a sleigh
filled with what possessions could be loaded on. Often an older child
or his wife would sit in the driver’s seat while he walked along beside,
driving livestock. Small rivers would be crossed or ends of lakes at
*From An Agriculture History of the Genesee Valley, 1790-1860 by
Neil Adam McNall
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James McNall, born in Union, Connecticut in 1766, moved to
Oneida County in 1806. Then in April, 1811, he came to Henrietta
to settle on the River Road, the first house south of Lehigh Station
Road on the east side.

Mr. McNall began his pioneer life by splitting rails at fifty cents
per hundred, receiving for his labors, flour, pork and potatoes, which
he carried to his home on his back. He sold his first crop of wheat for
fifty cents a bushel. It is said when James 1II was drafted in the War
of 1812, his father went in his stead saying “that since whoever went
would never come back, it would be better to spare the younger
man.” After spending two years in the service on the Niagara frontier
and at least part of the time as a Captain, he was scalped by the
Indians near Fort Erie with his burial place unknown. James III, his
son, entered the service in the War of 1812 transporting tents and
military baggage from Avon to Buffalo by means of a horse and
wagon, which service merited him a government pension in after
years. He took part in the opening of the canal with its attending
celebration in 1824 and was present when LaFayette visited
Rochester in 1825. He told of watching Sam Patch make his fatal
leap at upper Genesee Falls in 1829. His first wife was Polly
Brininstool, a neighbor girl, who bore him four sons: Schuyler,
James, Jacob and William. She died at the age of thirty-six. His
second wife was Susan Reynolds, and their children were Mary,
Stephen, Harriet and John. Mr. McNall lived to be eighty-eight years
old and is buried with his wives in the Brininstool Cemetery on Erie
Station Road.

Elijah Little was an early teacher in Henrietta. His wife was the
former Mercy Webster. During the winters of 1812, 1813 and 1814,
he taught in the east hamlet in a small log house. He also taught in a
log house near Mrs. Stephen Leggett’s. Mr. Little was an early road
overseer, Highway Committee 1818. He was on the Subscription
Committee for the new Academy, also on the Building Committee
and Executive Committee 1825-1826, and a trustee; Supervisor of
Henrietta during 1821, 1822, 1824, 1826, 1827, 1832, and 1833.
His home is now occupied by Andrews Real Estate at 1900 East
Henrietta Road.

Moses Sperry came from Bloomfield in 1813 and settled in the
southwest part of West Henrietta. He had moved from Berkshire to
Bloomfield in March, 1794, with his wife and seven children, when he
was twenty-seven years old. He had been preceded to Henrietta by
two or three years by some of his sons. One of his sons was James
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